
 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 
  

Thursday, July 14, 2022                                                                          Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Minutes of June 23, 2022 

 
4. Public Hearing: 324 Center Road – Root Residence (Ref #105) 

Public Hearing Request: Request for a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(g)(2) of the Village of 
Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit the use of non-masonry siding on a proposed addition and a variation 
from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(l) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit construction of 
a single-family home with a basement that is less than 80% of the area of the footprint of the house. (PIN: 
19-09-28-229-014-0000)  
 

5. Workshop:  21420 S. Harlem Avenue – Thrift Home & Restoration (The Bridge Teen Center)  
Future Public Hearing Request: Proposed Special Use Permit for Indoor retail sales of goods, between 5,000 
and 10,000 square feet in the B-4 Office District. (PIN 19-09-24-401-022-0000)  
 

6. Workshop: 10235 W. Lincoln Highway – Opa! Addition  
Future Public Hearing Request: Proposed Major Change to the Brookside Commons Office Centre Planned 
Unit Development for a proposed building addition and other exterior changes. (PIN: 19-09-21-304-044-
0000)  
 

7. Public Comments 
 
8. Village Board & Committee Updates  

 
9. Other Business 

 
10. Attendance Confirmation (July 28, 2022) 

 
11. Adjournment 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 



1 
 

 

 

MINUTES 

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        June 23, 2022–VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

 

 

Call to Order:   Chair Rigoni called the meeting to order at 6:31 PM 

Commissioners Present: Chair Maura Rigoni, Will Markunas, Nichole Schaefer, Jessica 
Jakubowski, Brian James  

Commissioners Absent: Dan Knieriem, David Hogan 

Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development Mike 
Schwarz, Senior Planner Chris Gruba, Planner Drew Duffin 

Elected Officials Present:  None 

A. Approval of the Minutes from June 9, 2022 

Motion (#1): Approval of the minutes, as presented, from May 12 2022 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by: Markunas 

Approved: (5-0) 

Chair Rigoni swore in any members of the public who wished to speak at the meeting. 

B. Public Hearing (Continued from April 28th, 2022): Olde Stone Subdivision 1st 
Addition 

Chris Gruba summarized the staff report.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to approach the podium. She asked if the applicant had 
anything else to add.  

The applicant, Mark Berardelli, stated they had nothing more to add, and were available 
to answer questions and address concerns the commission had.  

Chair Rigoni asked the commission if they had any initial questions for the applicant.  

There were none.  

 
 



2 
 

Chair Rigoni asked staff to clarify whether the density of the proposal had changed since 
the previous meeting.  

Gruba replied that it had not, that density remained at 2.23 dwelling units per acre.  

Chair Rigoni noted that the most current plans had the potential to add another buildable 
lot, and asked if that would change the density calculation.  

Gruba responded that it would.  

Chair Rigoni concluded that creating an additional lot would put the proposed 
development above the allowed density for the district. She asked the applicant whether 
the cul-de-sac on the proposed plans was for access to the out lot. 

The applicant said it was. 

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any comments from members of the audience. 

A resident of Olde Stone, Jack Johnson, approached the podium. He began by expressing 
his hope that the new members of the Plan Commission took the time to read the current 
and previous proposals. He stated that he had been fighting the current development for 
years. One of his concerns was that the proposed density was close to the limit allowed 
by the Zoning Ordinance. Another concern was that some lots contained larger public 
utility and drainage easements in the backyards, rendering a larger portion of the rear 
yard unbuildable. Johnson noted that the number of new homes proposed by this addition 
would greatly increase vehicle traffic in the neighborhood, which would be an issue for 
all the neighbors. He stated that it was unfair that this burden be placed on himself and 
other residents of Olde Stone simply because the nearby Church of Latter-day Saints was 
unwilling to sell land to the developer for another access point to the subdivision. In 
addition, the meander put in the road between the current and previous proposal seemed 
insufficient. Lastly, Johnson expressed that he was frustrated with the plan and its lack of 
care for the residents’ concerns. He said it was not a good project for either the residents 
or the Village, and he hoped the current commissioners acted the same way as the old 
commissioners had.  

Wesley Lemper, another resident of Olde Stone, approached the podium. He provided 
detail on the size of his lot, around 26,000 square feet, which was larger than any other 
lot in the subdivision. When he purchased the property, he assumed the subdivision was 
complete, though it was not. He grew up in the area, and chose to move to Frankfort in 
particular because of the control it has over development. The current proposal seemed 
out of step with the Village’s reputation. His main issue was with how the project would 
be constructed, noting that construction traffic would only be able to use the single point 
of access to the subdivision. He also wanted to know who would maintain the streets, 
which would experience greater wear as a result of the heavy vehicles and equipment 
moving in and out of the neighborhood. 

Vince Ferro, a resident of Olde Stone, approached the podium. He noted that there was 
little change between the current plan and previous plan. In addition, the current plan 
does not match the design of the rest of Olde Stone. He asked how construction will be 
handled, as well as how the streets would be maintained. He also asked why the 



3 
 

taxpayers would be burdened with road maintenance when there was a clear need for two 
entrances to the subdivision. Ferro noted that other nearby subdivisions have two 
entrances, and that the lack of a second access point may in an emergency be the 
difference between life and death. He asked why there should be an exception for Olde 
Stone in this regard.  

Motion (#2): Motion to close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Markunas  Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (5-0) 

Chair Rigoni asked staff if the cost of improving the road would fall on the developer. 

Staff responded it would.  

Chair Rigoni asked whether there was already road wear underway as a result of current 
construction taking place in the subdivision. 

Staff responded there was.  

Chair Rigoni told the members of the Plan Commission who had joined after the proposal 
was first brought to the Commission that there were multiple motions to consider. She 
asked if any commissioners had any questions on the rezoning proposal.  

There were none.  

Chair Rigoni asked if the commissioners had any questions about the current plat. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that his issue from the last meeting was the lack of a 
second access point. He asked the applicant what Will County said about using their 
nearby drive, and what alternatives they had considered.  

The applicant, Mark Berardelli, responded that he had not spoken with the County, but 
staff had. According to them, the County could not grant access to that private road, since 
it was only usable by the Federal Aviation Administration.  

Commissioner Markunas asked what alternatives the applicant had considered. 

The applicant responded that he had been in talks with the relevant organizations within 
the church. They were not interested in selling their property at this time.  

Commissioner Schaeffer stated that her biggest concern with the proposal was access. 
However, if the church would not budge, there was nothing to be done.  

Commissioner Jakubowski agreed that her biggest concern was the single access point. It 
created a burden for those living near the entrance, though traffic would slow after all 
construction was complete. 

Commissioner James also expressed concern about the single point of access to the 
subdivision. 



4 
 

Chair Rigoni stated that the applicant did their due diligence trying to obtain property for 
a second point of access. If the Plan Commission had cut corners in approving the 
development with only one point of access, that was a mistake made in the past, and now 
the consequences were being felt. She thanked the applicant for attempting to purchase 
the property for a second access point from the Church of Latter-day Saints. She 
expressed that the situation was what it was, and directed the conversation to concerns 
over lot sizes. 

The applicant commented on lot sizes in the proposed addition. Overall, the lot sizes in 
the proposed addition were on average larger than the existing lots in the subdivision. 
The same engineer who designed the existing Olde Stone subdivision had designed the 
proposed addition, and did so as efficiently as possible.  

Commissioner Markunas asked staff what the buildable area would be for the proposed 
lots 5, 6, 7, and 8 once the rear yard public utility and drainage easements were factored 
out.  

Staff approximated the buildable area to be between 18,000 and 20,000 square feet.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant knew what the figure was. 

The applicant responded they did not, but that the lots along Vienna Way and near Outlot 
C were comparable.  

Commissioner Schaeffer noted that the proposal still seemed too dense, especially with 
the limited access issue. She stated she would like to see fewer lots.  

Chair Rigoni asked if the proposal complied with the density requirements. 

Staff responded it did.  

Chair Rigoni commented that so many subdivisions meet the minimum 15,000 square 
foot requirement, and that she did not see the proposal meeting density in its current state. 
There could be issues with lot 8 in particular, since other lots with 16,000-20,000 square 
feet are surrounded by similar sized lots. She noted that she did not want the easement to 
move any further west than where it was currently located.  

The applicant said the example building envelopes on the submitted plans were oversized 
and that the house sizes usually do not cover the entire available building envelope 

Chair Rigoni responded that her concern was not with the size of the example footprints, 
but with but with the other future improvements, such as patios and pools, which may 
require variations should the current proposal go through. Better to get ahead of those 
challenges now rather than later.  

Commissioner James expressed he had no concern over the sizes of the proposed lots, but 
did note there were differences between lots on the east and west sides of the road. The 
possibility of future lot consolidations discounted his concern over lot size.  

The applicant stated that there was a prospective buyer who wanted to purchase four lots. 
He also mentioned the that the building setbacks were varied along the street, as required. 



5 
 

Commissioner Jakubowski also had no concerns about lot sizes, since it was likely 
someone would consolidate multiple lots. 

Chair Rigoni summarized the points of conversation so far. She asked why lot 1 should or 
should not have been an access point for Outlot A. She asked if the cul-de-sac location 
could be moved back to the east side of Vienna Way, where it was originally proposed.  

The applicant responded he was happy to revert to the original design for the cul-de-sac, 
and that the change was not a deliberate choice since the main focus was on the southern 
portion of the addition.  

Chair Rigoni asked what the area of Outlot C was on the previously submitted plans. 

The applicant responded that it was slightly larger than lots two, three, and four, 
approximately 17,000 square feet.  

Chair Rigoni noted that the concern then was how to get that lot to comply with the width 
and depth regulations.  

The applicant stated that the width was too small, and that the cul-de-sac was in the way 
as well.  

Chair Rigoni responded that she would like to make sure that if the applicant wanted to 
make that lot buildable in the future, there would be no need bring the proposal to the 
Plan Commission due to the insufficient size of the lot.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant would be comfortable flipping the cul-de-
sac from the west side of the road to the east. 

The applicant responded that they did.  

There was some discussion on how to incorporate that change into the motion.  

Schwarz noted that flipping the cul-de-sac would also be beneficial in the annexation 
agreement, since it would then be easier in the future for the Village to vacate the 
property so that another access point to the subdivision could be built. He also noted that 
adding the cul-de-sac into the density calculations would result in a density less than the 
required 2.25 dwelling units per acre.  

Chair Rigoni added that flipping the cul-de-sac would also provide a greater sense of 
openness on the site. She asked staff to ensure language on vacating the cul-de-sac is 
incorporated into the annexation agreement, and acknowledged that the Plan Commission 
is not involved in that process. She then asked if there were any other points of 
discussion. 

There were none.  

Chair Rigoni told the applicant she did not want to see the easement move any further.  

The applicant stated he understood. 



6 
 

Chair Rigoni also asked that the applicant follow the Village’s standards on construction 
traffic.  

Motion (#3): To recommend the Village Board rezone the northern parcel (PIN: 19-09-
31-400-016-0020) from E-R to R-2 and the southern two parcels (PIN: 19-09-31-400-
016-0010, 19-09-31-400-013-0000) from E-R to R-2 upon annexation. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (5-0) 

Motion (#4): Recommend Village Board approve the Final Plat of Subdivision for Olde 
Stone Village 1st Addition, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony, 
subject to any necessary technical revisions prior to recording, conditioned upon final 
engineering approval, dedication of right-of-way for Wolf Road, legal documentation that 
the detention pond will be maintained by the Olde Stone 1st Addition HOA, the cul-de-
sac be constructed as shown in the preliminary site plan reviewed by the Plan 
Commission on March 24, 2022, and the public utility and drainage easements in the rear 
yards of lots 5, 6, 7, and 8 not be expanded.  

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by: James 

In favor: (3-2; Commissioner Jakubowski, Commissioner James, and Chair Rigoni voted 
in favor, Commissioner Markunas and Commissioner Schaeffer voted against.) 

Chair Rigoni stated the result of the vote and that the project would be brought before the 
Village Board.  

Schwarz explained for the understanding of those in the audience that the proposal would 
be brought to the Committee of the Whole on July 13th, 2022. If the Committee of the 
Whole approved the proposal, then another noticed public hearing would be scheduled 
with the Village Board. The earliest meeting the proposal would be on the agenda for 
would be August 15th, 2022. At said hearing, the Village Board would first approve 
ordinances authorizing and executing the annexation agreement, then would decide to 
either approve or deny the submitted plats.  

Chair Rigoni asked the audience to contact staff with questions about the next steps for 
the project. 

 

C. Public Hearing: 20801 S. LaGrange Road, Chase Bank 

Gruba summarized the staff report.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to step forward, and asked if she had anything to add. 
Susan Faber with Black and Veatch on behalf of the applicant approached the podium, 
and stated she was present to answer questions. 

Chair Rigoni asked members of the Plan Commission if they had any questions. 



7 
 

There were none.  

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any members of the audience who wished to make 
comments on the proposal.  

There were none. 

Motion (#5): Motion to close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Schaeffer   Seconded by: Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0) 

Chair Rigoni explained to members of the audience that the Plan Commission had a 
longer conversation with the applicant at a previous meeting, which was why the public 
hearing was so short. She then asked if there were any comments from the Plan 
Commission. 

Commissioner Markunas stated his biggest concern was with the visuals, and he 
appreciated the photographs and visualizations provided in the report. He asked the 
applicant what other, substitutable technologies were considered that had different visual 
appeal. 

The applicant responded that the panels proposed are the most efficient on the market. 
Any other technology would not be a rooftop panel, and outside the scope of the project. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if there was any other technology which could generate 
energy from solar radiation.  

The applicant said she could not speak to other solar-collecting technology. In the 
situation of solar roofs, panels are the only option.  

Chair Rigoni stated she struggled with the aesthetic consideration. While they would 
stand out at first, it is possible that people become used to them over time. At some point 
the roof would need to be replaced. She asked if the applicant would consider installing 
shingles that match the color of the panels at that time? 

The applicant stated that the panels were had glass surfaces, though they appeared black, 
and she was unsure if replacement panels would match the shingles. 

Chair Rigoni clarified she was requesting the shingles change color to match the panels, 
and that it may be a condition that could be added to the motion. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant was willing to replace the shingles now.  

The applicant responded that the roof was currently in good condition.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if she would be willing to replace them regardless of the 
roof’s condition.  



8 
 

The applicant replied that she was not the person who would have final say on that, but 
that changing the shingles now did not make a lot of sense. 

Commissioner Jakubowski mentioned she had seen residential remodels that change out 
roof shingles without needing to replace the roof, and so that it was possible to do. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that he struggled with the aesthetics. Black panels on a 
gray roof would stand out.  

The applicant responded that there were examples of solar roofs on residential 
developments which showed what the final result would be on the bank. While it stood 
out initially, over time it became normal. It was also important to consider the importance 
of renewable energy. 

Commissioner James noted that the pictures included in the report were helpful. He was 
less concerned with aesthetics, since there are other examples where the roof and panel 
colors clash even more. Given the characteristics of the site, the most high-traffic areas 
adjacent to the property were already screened by trees. 

Gruba asked the applicant if the project was part of a national effort on the part of Chase.  

The applicant responded it was.  

Gruba then asked if there were any federal or state grants tied to the project.  

The applicant stated she was unsure. 

Commissioner James stated that the Comprehensive Plan had language in it about 
encouraging renewable energy projects. Allowing a solar roof on a commercial structure 
would be in line with that stated goal, and would serve as a good signal of the Village’s 
intent. 

Commissioner Jakubowski said she was also not concerned with aesthetics because of the 
screening on site. She said she would like to see better color matching when the roof was 
eventually replaced.  

Commissioner Schaeffer agreed with Commissioner Jakubowski’s comments. She stated 
she would like to incorporate a condition to the motion for future color matching between 
the panels and roof shingles. 

The applicant stated that the proposed solar panels would generate 49% of the facility’s 
energy needs annually.  

Chair Rigoni stated she hoped the panels would not stand out. 

Motion (#6): Recommend the Village Board approve a variation from Article 7, Section 
A, Part 2 (c) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit service/utility areas 
(rooftop solar panels) that are not screened from view on the existing building located at 
20801 S. La Grange Road in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and 
Findings of Fact, with the condition that when the roof shingles have reached the end of 



9 
 

their lifespan and are ready to be replaced, that they be of a color that closely matches the 
color of the solar panels and that the roof shingle color shall be verified by staff. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (4-1; Commissioner Markunas voted against) 

Motion (#7): Recommend the Village Board approve a variation from Article 7, Section 
A, Part 10 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit service/utility areas 
(rooftop solar panels) that are not screened from view on the existing building located at 
20801 S. La Grange Road in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and 
Findings of Fact, with the condition that when the roof shingles have reached the end of 
their lifespan and are ready to be replaced, that they be of a color that closely matches the 
color of the solar panels and that the roof shingle color shall be verified by staff. 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (4-1; Commissioner Markunas voted against) 

D. Workshop: Misty Creek Townhomes 

Gruba summarized the case. 

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to approach the podium. 

The applicant, Mike Flaherty, approached the podium. He expressed his appreciation for 
staff’s report and the opportunity to have a workshop on the project. He noted that the 
changes suggested at the previous meeting were incorporated into the plans. He explained 
that the increased size of the detention pond was to accommodate excess runoff from the 
nearby school, which did not meet all of its runoff requirements. 

Chair Rigoni agreed that early, high-level Plan Commission meetings on proposals was 
beneficial, and that perhaps a mechanism should be created for more in the future. She 
reminded the members of the Plan Commission that the current item was a workshop, so 
they should discuss the plans presented. She asked staff what the rezoning request was. 

Staff replied that the request was to rezone from E-R, Estate Residential to R-4, Attached 
Single Family Residential.  

Commissioner Markunas said he was at the original workshop. Consensus at that time 
was that the proposal was an appropriate use for the site, even though the Village’s 
Comprehensive Plan recommends a commercial use for the property. 

Commissioners Jakubowski and James agreed. 

Chair Rigoni turned the discussion toward the general design on the site plan.  

Commissioner Markunas said he liked that the dog park was moved to its current 
location. It was a good change especially considering potential safety issues with the 
nearby school. 



10 
 

The applicant agreed, and explained that the park would be owned by the Homeowners 
Association and therefore private. The design was the best they could do given the space 
limitations. 

Chair Rigoni mentioned the setback exceptions along the west and east sides of the 
property.  

Commissioner Schaeffer said she wanted to talk about the staff recommendation to 
remove the proposed walking path along the north and west ends of the property and 
replace it with additional landscaping. She expressed agreement with the idea since 
anyone who wished to walk could use the existing sidewalks along Laraway Road and 
116th Avenue.  

Commissioner Jakubowski asked staff how far the proposed walking path was from the 
proposed sunrooms.  

Staff responded it was ten feet away. 

The applicant stated he spoke with Gruba and agreed it was a good suggestion. 

Chair Rigoni asked if there was a berm on the school property to the north. 

The applicant responded there was. 

Chair Rigoni then asked if the applicant planned to provide landscaping on the berm. 

The applicant said he was.  

Chair Rigoni stated that was a good idea since the additional landscaping would help 
provide the privacy typically expected in back yards. She had no issue with removing the 
walking path since there were other nearby amenities, and it provided for more creative 
landscape solutions. It would also eliminate a maintenance item for the proposed 
Homeowners Association. She saw no issue with reducing the rear setback because of the 
proposed landscaping. 

Commissioners Markunas and Schaeffer agreed.  

Chair Rigoni also liked the dedicated right-of-way, since other townhomes have struggled 
maintaining private roads. 

Gruba stated that the Village’s engineering consultant mentioned the proposed road 
should have a 90° turn as proposed, but should bow out the curve, which could impact 
paved area considerations. 

The applicant asked if that was required or suggested. 

Chair Rigoni stated that the Plan Commission cannot approve changes related to 
engineering. 

The applicant expressed his uncertainty about how necessary that change was, but said he 
would consult with Village staff.  



11 
 

Chair Rigoni asked staff if the dedication of right-of-way to Laraway Road was 
appropriate. 

Staff responded that it was.  

Commissioner Markunas asked for clarification on the right-in, right-out design of the 
road on 116th Avenue, since he did not recall seeing it in the previous meeting. 

The applicant explained that the right-in, right-out curb cuts were incorporated in 
response to traffic concerns on Laraway Road. 

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any concerns with the proposed floor plans and 
elevations. 

Commissioner James asked the applicant if they were building a similar development in 
Mokena. 

The applicant stated he was not, but that he was building on in Abbey Woods.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked the applicant if they had brought a sample board to the 
previous meeting. 

The applicant said they had.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to bring it to the next meeting, to help visualize the 
variation in materials.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked if there had been two different options for materials at the 
previous meeting. 

The applicant said there were not, that the variety in materials came at the request of the 
Plan Commission.  

Schwarz noted that in regard to the proposed covenants, conditions, and restrictions that 
would be placed on the proposed units, some language should be included that ensures 
any property which builds the optional sunroom is visually cohesive with other sunrooms 
in the development.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked whether the decision to build the optional sunroom was 
final at the time of construction or purchase, or the optional sunroom could be built at any 
time by any future resident. 

Staff responded that it was the latter. 

Chair Rigoni asked if the Plan Commission had any comments on the proposed 
landscaping. She asked why the detention pond increased in size since the last meeting, 
and whether it was related to the increased dwelling units per acre figure. 

Staff responded that the increased density figure was a result of the larger detention pond, 
that density was 5.42 units per acre, as opposed to the maximum allowable 5. Density is 



12 
 

based upon the overall net buildable area, which was decreased when the size of the pond 
was increased.  

Chair Rigoni asked how much the detention pond had grown by. 

The applicant said he was unsure, but estimated it grew by about a third. 

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to provide documentation which explained why the 
detention pond grew and why that increased the density of the proposal.  

The applicant responded that initially, the plans complied with the density requirements. 
After more detail was obtained, the necessary change in detention area resulted in the 
increased density. 

Staff mentioned that receiving a yield plan from the applicant would help show the 
impacts of the increased detention requirements. 

The applicant stated they could provide a report explaining the reasons for the changes in 
the plan. 

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any comments on density or open space.  

Staff noted that the only common usable space was the walking path on the north edge of 
the property. However, if the path was removed as suggested, there would then be no 
usable open space as strictly calculated per Code.  

Commissioner Schaeffer stated that the walking path as proposed already did not meet 
the requirements for usable open space, so removing it would make little difference in the 
end. In her opinion, the additional landscaping would override any concern about no 
usable open space. Regardless of the exact wording of the regulations regarding what is 
or is not considered usable open space, there would be work done on the property to the 
benefit of future residents. 

Chair Rigoni said that the yield plan would give the Plan Commission a better sense of 
the tradeoffs being made by this proposal. For example, when compared to a non-PUD 
development on the site, is the tradeoff less open space for more units? A yield plan 
would clarify this. 

The applicant said that this particular proposal did not feel dense in comparison to other 
developments he had done. 

Chair Rigoni agreed, and said that the greater frequency of duplexes to triplexes helped 
that feeling. She summarized the conversation to that point, which covered setbacks, 
density, open and green space, and stormwater detention. 

The applicant added that he could provide information on how much detention was 
required and how much was additional. 

Commissioner James asked staff whether the proposed shared driveways factored into the 
parking requirements for the site. 



13 
 

Staff responded that only single driveways counted towards that requirement. Staff had 
provided the members of the Plan Commission with an aerial photograph of Bowen’s 
Crossing, a similar development which was allowed to build. Staff then asked the Plan 
Commission how much landscaping they would like to see along the north and west 
property lines if the walking path were removed.  

Commissioner Markunas responded that the landscaping along Laraway Road should be 
used as a guide.  

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any other questions or comments.  

There were none. 

Chair Rigoni asked what the next steps for this proposal would be. 

Gruba explained the process. First, to a public hearing in front of the Plan Commission, 
then to the Village Board. Should the Village Board approve, the proposal would return 
to the Plan Commission again, before appearing before the Village Board once more for 
final approval. 

Commissioner Jakubowski noted that in similar developments, residents in corner units 
struggle with being blocked in their driveways. 

E. Public Comments 

There were none. 

F. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Schwarz noted that the following matters that previously came before the PC/ZBA were 
approved by the Village Board at its meeting on June 20: 

• Homestead Center at the Southwest corner of Wolf and Laraway Roads:  The 
Final Plat of Subdivision was approved.  

• LaMarche Residence Exterior Materials Variation at 170 Vail Drive:  The 
ordinance was approved. 

G. Other Business 

There was no other business.  

H. Attendance Confirmation (July 14th, 2022) 

Chair Rigoni asked the Commissioners to notify staff if they will not be in attendance on 
July 14th.  

Commissioners Markunas and Schaeffer indicated they would not be in attendance. 

Motion (#8): Adjournment 8:42 P.M. 



14 
 

Motion by: Schaeffer  Seconded by: Jakubowski 

Unanimously approved by voice vote. 

Approved July 14th, 2022 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

_____________________/s/ Maura Rigoni, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 



 

1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                           June 9, 2022 

 

Project: Root Residence First Floor Additions 

Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 

Request(s): (1) Request for a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(g)(2) of the Village of Frankfort 

Zoning Ordinance to permit the use of non-masonry siding on the first floor of an existing 

home in conjunction with proposed first floor additions in the R-2 Single-Family Residential 

District located at 324 Center Road; and (2) request for a variation from Article 6, Section B, 

Part 2(l) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to reduce the requirement that a 

basement be equal to 80% of the ground floor area of the first story to 60.55% of the ground 

floor area in the R-2 Single-Family Residential District located at 324 Center Road.  

Location: 324 Center Road 

Applicant:  Michael and Sharon Root 

Prop. Owner:  Same as above  

Consultants:  Same as above   

Representative: None  

Report By:  Drew Duffin 

 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 40,574 SF                                                              Figure 1: Location Map  

PIN(s):          19-09-28-229-014-0000 

Existing Zoning:  R-2, Single-Family Detached Residential 

Prop.  Zoning: N/A   

Building(s) / Lot(s): 1 buildings / 1 lot   

          

Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Single-family Residential Single Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

North  Single-family Residential 
 

Single Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

South Utility Single Family 
Detached Residential 

ER 

East Single-family Residential Single Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

West Single-family Residential Single Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

 

Project Summary  
 

The applicant, Michael Root, is seeking to add a first-floor addition to his two-story home located at 324 Center 

Road.  The applicant is requesting a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(g)(2) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning 

Ordinance to permit the use of non-masonry siding on the first floor on a proposed addition in the R-2 Single-Family 

Residential District. The siding proposed for the addition is LP Smart Siding, which will visually match the existing 

home. The applicant is also requesting a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(l) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning 

Ordinance to reduce the requirement that a basement be equal to 80% of the ground floor area of the first story. 

In summary, the applicant intends to construct a 593 square-foot addition on the first floor at the rear of the house.  

According to the Building Data information on Sheet T-1 of the architectural plans, the existing house contains 2,977 

 



 

2 

square feet of floor area including the 1,395 square-foot basement (the Frankfort Township Assessor property 

information indicates that the existing house contains a gross living area of 2,756 square feet).   

Attachments 

• Applicant Findings for Variation Standards  

• 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 

• Photographs of site taken on July 1, 2022 

• Engineering Site Plan dated May 23, 2022 and received May 23, 2022 

• Architectural Plans dated May 23, 2022 and received May 23, 2022 

• PC/ZBA Evaluation Form for Variation Findings of Fact 

 

Analysis 
 

In consideration of the requests, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The following table is provided to compare the subject property with the R-2 District dimensional and other 
standards: 

 

 R-2 Single-Family 
Detached Residential 
District Requirement 

 
Subject Property 

 
Comments 

Minimum Lot Size (square feet)  
(Single-Family Dwelling) 

15,000 SF 40,574 SF   

Minimum Lot Width (Feet) 100 feet 170 feet 
(approximate) 

 

Minimum Lot Depth 150 feet 204 feet 
(approximate) 

 

Minimum Required Yards (feet) 

• Front 

• Side 

• Rear 

• 30 feet 

• Total 25 feet; min. 
10 feet on any side 

• 30 feet 

• 75 feet 

• Total 113 feet 
(86 proposed); 
43 feet on north 
side (proposed 
16); 70 feet on 
south side 

• 62 feet (32 feet 
proposed) 

 

Maximum Height (feet) 35 feet 27 feet, 9 inches 
(approximate) 

 

Maximum Lot Coverage 20% (for a Two-Story) 5% existing 
7.3% proposed 

 

Maximum Impervious Coverage 40% 15% existing  
(5,794 SF) 
18% proposed  
(7,040 SF) 

 

Maximum Rear Yard Coverage 30% 0%  

Minimum Gross Floor Area 
(square feet, includes basement) 

2,600 (for a two-story) 4,372 SF existing 
4,965 SF proposed 

 

Minimum Basement Size 80% of the ground floor 
area (80% of existing 
1,711 SF = 1,369 SF) 
(80% of proposed 2,304 
SF = 1,843 SF) 

 
1,395 SF existing 
(81.53%) 
1,395 SF to remain 
after addition 
(60.55%) 

Variation requested 



 

3 

Although previous Village approvals of variation requests do not set any precedent, the following information is 

provided as background: 

• On April 15, 2019, the Village Board approved a similar request for a variation from Article 6, Section B, 

Part 2(g)(2) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit the use of non-masonry siding on the 

first floor of an existing home for the Malcheff residence located at 228 Hamilton Avenue (Ordinance No. 

3203). In that case the owners desired to build the addition to match the cedar siding of the existing 

building. At the March 28, 2019 Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals meeting, a motion was made 

and seconded to recommend that the Village Board approve a building materials variance to use cedar 

siding in the construction of an addition on the rear of the existing home located at 228 Hamilton A 

venue, in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony (Approved 4-0). 

• On April 4, 2022, the Village Board approved a similar request for a variation from Article 6, Section B, 

Part 2(l) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to reduce the required minimum basement size from 

80% to 68.3% of the ground floor area of the first story, or 1,971.14 square feet instead of the required 

2,308.8 square feet (Option 2) for the Quinlan residence located at 247 Hickory Avenue (Ordinance No. 

3350). At the March 24, 2022 Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals meeting, a motion was made and 

seconded to recommend that the Village Board approve a variance to the basement area requirement for 

a proposed new hose located at 247 Hickory Avenue, in accordance with the submitted plans, public 

testimony, and Findings of Fact (Approved 5-0). 

Standards for Variations  
 

The applicants are requesting a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(g)(2) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning 

Ordinance to permit the use of non-masonry siding on the first floor of an existing home in conjunction with 

proposed first and second floor additions and exterior remodeling. 

For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request.  
 

a. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as authorized in this Article 3, 
Section B, unless they have made findings based upon the evidence presented to it in the following cases:  

 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances;  
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  
 

b. For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals, in making this 
determination, whenever there are practical difficulties or hardships, shall also take into consideration the 
extent to which the following facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence:  

 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, 
if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification;  
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property;  
 



 

4 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest 
in the property;  
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 
other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood;  
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, substantially 
increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or impair 
property values within the neighborhood.  

 

Affirmative Motion    

For the Commission’s consideration, staff is providing the following potential affirmative motions.  

1. Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(g)(2) 
of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit the use of non-masonry siding on the first floor of an 
existing home in conjunction with proposed first and second floor additions and exterior remodeling in the 
R-2 Single-Family Residential District located at 324 Center Road, in accordance with the submitted plans, 
public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

 

2. Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(l) of 
the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to reduce the requirement that a basement be equal to 80% of 
the ground floor area of the first story to 60.55% in the R-2 Single-Family Residential District located at 324 
Center Road, in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 
 

 
 

     











Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

Aerial Photo - 324 Center Road

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

7/6/2022 Date:

0.04

Address Points

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels LY

Townships



 

 





 



 
 

Standards of Variation Commissioner Evaluation Form 
 

Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use 
to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon 
the evidence provided.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 

1. That the property in question cannot yield a 
reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations 
in that zone;  

  
YES              NO 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique 
circumstances; 

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 

  
YES              NO 
 

 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if the following seven facts, favorable to the 
applicant, have been established by the evidence.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 

1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape 
or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular 
hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the 
regulations was carried out;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for 
variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same 
zoning classification;  

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based 
exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not 
been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be 
detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in 
the neighborhood in which the property is 
located;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will 
not be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course 
of construction in the immediate neighborhood 
or the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood; or  

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an 
adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, 
otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values 
within the neighborhood.  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

 

 



 
 

Standards of Variation Commissioner Evaluation Form 
 

Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use 
to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon 
the evidence provided.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 

1. That the property in question cannot yield a 
reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations 
in that zone;  

  
YES              NO 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique 
circumstances; 

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 

  
YES              NO 
 

 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if the following seven facts, favorable to the 
applicant, have been established by the evidence.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 

1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape 
or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular 
hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the 
regulations was carried out;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for 
variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same 
zoning classification;  

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based 
exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not 
been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be 
detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in 
the neighborhood in which the property is 
located;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will 
not be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course 
of construction in the immediate neighborhood 
or the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood; or  

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an 
adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, 
otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values 
within the neighborhood.  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

 

 











1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                    July 14, 2022 

 
Project: Thrift Home & Restoration (The Bridge Teen Center)  
Meeting Type:  Workshop  
Requests: Special Use Permit indoor retail sales of goods, between 5,000 and 10,000 square feet in the 

B-4 Office District; Final Plat of Resubdivision to adjust the existing lot lines so that the 
existing parking lot is located entirely on the same lot as the existing building. 

Location: 21420 S. Harlem Avenue  
Applicants:  Rob and Priscilla Steinmetz, representing The Bridge Teen Center, a 501c3 non-profit corp. 
Prop. Owner:  Scott Sarris  
Consultants:  Patrick McCarty, Jr., PWM Architecture, LLC  
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Parcel/Lot Size: 5.34 acres               Figure 1: Location Map  
PIN(s): 19-09-24-401-021-0000  
 19-09-24-401-022-0000 
 19-09-24-401-019-0000 
 19-09-24-401-020-0000 
Existing Zoning:  B-4 Office District 
Prop.  Zoning: B-4 Office District with a Special Use Permit for indoor 

retail sales of goods, between 5,000 and 10,000 square 
feet     

Building(s) / Lot(s): 1 building / 4 lots 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Office (Vacant)   General  Commercial B-4 

North  Undeveloped 
 

  General Commercial B-2 

South  SF Detached Residential SF Detached Residential     R-2 

East Agriculture  General Commercial Cook 
County  

West SF Detached Residential SF Detached Residential  R-2 

 
 
Project Summary  
 
The applicants, Rob and Priscilla Steinmetz, representing The Bridge Teen Center, a 501c3 non-profit corporation, 
have filed an application requesting a Special Use Permit for indoor retail sales of goods, between 5,000 and 10,000 
square feet in the B-4 Office District for the 5.34-acre property located on the west side of Harlem Avenue, south of 
Route 30/Lincoln Highway, commonly known as 21420 S. Harlem Avenue.  According to the Fact Sheet provided by 
the applicants, the proposed “Thrift Home & Restoration” would sell used furniture, home goods, antiques and 
collectibles, crafts and creations from local artisans, small potted plants, salvaged architectural elements, 
repurposed and “upcycled” items, jewelry, and accessories and select designer apparel.  The profits from the 
business would be used to support the mission of The Bridge Teen Center which is located at 15555 71st Court in 
Orland Park.  The retail operation would also provide employment and retail training opportunities for area students 



2 

as well as provide volunteer opportunities for teen and adult individuals and groups.  Future proposals for the use 
of the adjacent lots that are included in overall property would be brought to the Village for future consideration.   
 
The overall subject property includes Lots 5 and 6 in the Georgetown Square Subdivision (recorded in 1987) and Lots 
97 and 98 in the Georgetown Subdivision 1st Addition (recorded in 1989).  In conjunction with the special use, the 
applicants will also need to request approval of a Final Plat of Resubdivision to adjust the existing lot lines so that 
the existing parking lot is located entirely on the same lot as the existing building.  At present, portions of the 
unfinished parking lot encroach onto the adjacent lots.    
 

Property Background  
 
The Georgetown professional building located at 21420 Harlem Avenue is a 9,000 square-foot office building that 
was constructed in 1992 and never occupied.  The interior space was never completed.  There is a gravel floor, and 
the interior wall framing remains unfinished.  The roofing shingles are poor condition.  It is currently not known when 
the property was annexed into the Village of Frankfort.  The property was rezoned to the B-4 Office District in 2002.   

Attachments 
1. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
2. Site Photographs taken 7/8/22  
3. Profile and Prospectus for The Bridge 
4. Fact Sheet for Thrift Home & Restoration 
5. Plats of Survey for four lots dated 4/29/08 
6. Site Plan with Privacy Fence Elevation dated 5/27/22 
7. Floor Plan / Building Elevations dated 4/29/22 
8. 3D Renderings 
9. Image of Privacy Fence 
10. Exterior Wall Light Details 
11. Parking Lot Light Pole Details 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 
Land Use 
 
The applicant has desires to establish and operate a thrift store within the existing building.  The applicant has 
provided a Fact Sheet which describes the proposed business (see attached). 
 
Hours of Operation 
 
The applicant has indicated that the proposed business hours of operation are: 

 
• 10:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. Tuesday through Thursday 
• 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday, Wednesday, Friday, Saturday 
• Closed Sunday and Monday 

   
The proposed hours are within the Village’s normal hours of operation which are 7:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. per Article 
6, Part 2(q) of the Zoning Ordinance.   
 
Employees 
 
The applicant has indicated that on a given day, they would estimate a rotating schedule of 2-3 employees and 4-5 
volunteers.  
Zoning 



3 

 
1. The applicant proposes to rehabilitate and renovate the existing 9,000 square-foot, brick, one-story office 

building and the associated unfinished parking lot. 
2. A Special Use Permit for indoor retail sales of goods, between 5,000 and 10,000 square feet is required in 

the B-4 Office District. 
3. The Village's ordinance does not contain specific use standards for the B-4 Office District. 
4. No variations from the Zoning Ordinance have been requested as part of the application.  
5. The proposed retail use is consistent with the Future Land Use Map in the Comprehensive Plan which 

designates the property as “General Commercial.” 
 
Site Plan 
 

1. The Site Plan depicts the existing building and unfinished parking lot.  
2. The existing building complies with all required setbacks in the B-4 Office District.  
3. The Zoning Ordinance specifies a parking ratio of one (1) space per two hundred fifty (250) square feet of 

gross floor area plus one (1) space per employee for the work shift with the largest number of 
Employees.  The existing 9,000 square-foot building therefore requires 36 parking spaces (including 2 
handicap accessible spaces) for the building square footage, and another 5 spaces for the estimated number 
of employees and volunteers during any given shift, for a total of 41 parking spaces.  A total of 45 spaces 
are provided on the proposed Site Plan. 

4. The Site Plan depicts the required trash enclosure (though not labeled) in a drive-aisle in the northwest area 
of the Site Plan.  The applicant are proposing to block off this drive-aisle from accessing the adjacent lot to 
the north given that there would still be an opportunity for cross-access to the north via the existing drive-
aisle located closer to and parallel to Harlem Avenue.  The Zoning Ordinance requires that trash enclosures 
be constructed of materials to match the exterior of the building (in this case brick).  Details for the 
proposed trash enclosure have not been provided at this time.  

5. The Site Plan depicts a proposed 6-foot tall white vinyl fence along the west property line.  
6. The Project Architect has indicated that the existing decorative brick walls on either side of the driveway 

entrance would likely be removed due to their deteriorating condition. 
7. The Site Plan does not depict the existing stormwater detention basin which is off-site to the north.  The 

Village Engineer will need to review the applicant’s proposed renovation of the existing parking lot to 
confirm that the existing basin has adequate capacity to serve the existing building and paved areas and 
that there is documentation confirming that the applicants have the legal right to use the existing basin.   

8. The B-4 Office District requires a maximum impervious surface lot coverage of 70%.  Village staff is awaiting 
confirmation from the applicant’s design engineer to confirm that that the proposed redevelopment will 
have enough green space to comply with this requirement pending the proposed resubdivision to adjust 
the existing lot lines so that the existing parking lot is located entirely on the same lot as the existing 
building. 
 

Landscape Plan  
 

1. The applicant has not yet submitted a Landscape Plan which depicts the existing and proposed trees and 
other plantings.  This will be provided prior to the public hearing.  

 
Engineering Plans 
 

1. The applicant has not yet submitted Engineering Plans which must be reviewed by the Village’s consulting 
engineer.  At least one round of review will be completed prior to the public hearing.   
 

Architecture 
 

1. The applicant intends to rehabilitate the existing long-vacant and never completed office building. 
2. Building Elevations and 3D Renderings have been provided. 



4 

3. A covered dock enclosure would be added to the northwest corner of the building to provide a screened 
area for donation drop-offs.  The wall material would be stained barn wood.  The material for the flat roof 
would galvanized metal in color that would match the proposed new asphalt roofing shingles in a dark grey 
color. 

4. The rear windows on the west elevation and the two westernmost windows on the south elevation would 
be covered with stained barn wood.  The applicant desires to add this material for the aesthetics of the 
exterior as well as to cover these windows which will be blocked by shelving on the interior. 

5. The two small pediments above the doors on the south elevation would be stained barn wood. 
 
Photometrics Plan 
 

1. The applicant has not yet provided a Photometrics Plan, although the proposed building and parking lot 
light fixtures and light pole specifications have been provided at this time.  The colors will be bronze for 
both the parking lot light fixtures and the goose neck building light fixtures. The Village’s Municipal Code 
requires decorative bases for all parking lot light poles.  The maximum light pole height in the B-4 Office 
District is 20 feet.  The Photometrics Plan will be provided prior to the public hearing. 
 

Signage 
 

1. The building rendering reflect a wall sign on the east elevation facing Harlem Avenue.  Specific details have 
not been provided at this stage in the review process.   

2. The applicants desire to utilize the existing monument sign which reflect “Georgetown” would be used for 
ground signage. 
 

Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision 
 
In conjunction with the special use, the applicants will also need to request approval of a Final Plat of Resubdivision 
to adjust the existing lot lines so that the existing parking lot is located entirely on the same lot as the existing 
building. 
 
Standards for Special Uses  

 
For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section B, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use request.  
 
The Plan Commission shall make written findings of fact and shall refer to any exhibits containing plans and 
specifications for the proposed special use, which shall remain a part of the permanent record of the Plan 
Commission. The Plan Commission shall submit same, together with its recommendation to the Village Board for 
final action. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find:  
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or endanger, 
the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  
 



5 

e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which 
it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant 
to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.  
 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.14

1: 4,514

0 Miles

Thrift Home & Restoration - 21420 S. Harlem
Avenue

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

6/29/2022 Date:

0.07

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels LY

Townships



Site Photos – 21420 S. Harlem Avenue (July 8, 2022) 

 

 

Figure 1:  21420 S. Harlem Avenue, viewed looking northwest from the driveway entrance to the site. 

 

     Figure 2:  Decorative brick wall on south side of driveway entrance from Harlem Avenue.   
    

   



 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Figure 3:  Back (west) side of decorative brick wall on north side of driveway entrance from Harlem Avenue. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Figure 4: Cross-access drive-aisle on east side of building, viewed looking north. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5: East and North Building Elevations, viewed looking southwest. 

Figure 6:  North parking lot, viewed looking west. Homes in Georgetown Subdivision visible in background. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7:  South parking lot, viewed looking west. Homes in Georgetown Subdivision visible in background. 

Figure 8:  West transitional yard, viewed looking north.  Homes in adjacent Georgetown visible at left. 



 

 

 

  

 

 

Figure 9: West transitional yard, viewed looking south.  Homes in adjacent Georgetown visible at right. 

Figure 10:  South main entrance to building. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
Figure 11:  Undeveloped property adjacent to south, viewed looking south from south parking lot. 



mschwarz
Received





















mschwarz
Received



mschwarz
Received









mschwarz
Received



mschwarz
Received





















mschwarz
Received





mschwarz
Received













1 
 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                                                                                   S                                        July 14, 2022 

 
Project: Opa! Building addition and relocation of outdoor seating    
Meeting Type:  Workshop   
Requests: Major PUD Change; Plat of Resubdivision (to consolidate underlying lots) 
Location:   10235 W. Lincoln Highway  
Applicant:  George Karuntzos  
Prop. Owner:  Karuntzos Investments, LLC  
Representative: Steven Francis, Linden Group 
 

Site Details 
 

Gross Area: 4,420 sq. ft. (0.1 acres)                                                  Figure 1. Location Map     
PIN(s): 19-09-21-304-044-0000 
Existing Zoning:  B-4   
Proposed Zoning: B-4 
Future Land Use:  General Commercial 
Buildings: 8 (within entire PUD) 
Units:  21 (within entire PUD)  
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, George Karuntzos, is proposing a building addition and relocation of the outdoor patio for the 
existing Opa restaurant, within the Brookside Commons PUD.  The project would involve enclosing the existing 670 
square foot patio and constructing a new 324 square foot outdoor seating area adjacent to it.  The changes would 
only affect the parcel for the restaurant, which measures approximately 0.10 acres.  There would be no changes to 
the common area within the PUD, including the existing parking, sidewalks and landscaping.   
 
The proposal will require a Major PUD change to alter the approved plans for the Brookside Commons PUD, as well 
as a new Plat of Resubdivision to combine the 3 underlying lots for the property.  The Brookside Commons PUD is 
located between the Brookside Commons West PUD and the Brookside Office Condos PUD.  Each PUD was 
approved separately.  There is no formal shared parking agreement between the three separate PUDs.  
 
Attachments 

1. Plat of Survey, received June 2, 2022 
2. Aerial Photographs, Village of Frankfort GIS (large scale and small scale) 
3. Aerial map of Brookside Commons PUD, Brookside Commons West PUD and Brookside Office Condos PUD 
4. Tax Assessment Map, Will County 
5. Tenant roster and parking analysis, prepared by staff (before and after the addition) 
6. Pictures taken by staff, May 13, 2022 
7. Existing tenants map, prepared by staff 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property Restaurant General Comm. B-4 

North Comm. PUD General Comm. B-4 

South       Comm. PUD General Comm. B-4 

East Comm. PUD General Comm. B-4 

West Comm. PUD General Comm. B-4 



2 
 

8. Brookside Commons PUD Site Geometrics Plan, received June 2, 2022 
9. Preliminary Site Plan 1”:20’ scale, received April 11, 2011 
10. Preliminary Site Plan 1”:10’ scale, received March 16, 2011 
11. Preliminary Site Plan ¼”:1’ scale, received June 2, 2022 
12. Building Elevation drawing, north & west elevation, received March 16, 2022 
13. Building Elevation drawing, east elevation, received June 2, 2022 

    
Analysis 
 

2019 Comprehensive Plan 
 

1. The Comprehensive Plan illustrates the subject property as “General Commercial”.  The property is 
currently being used for a restaurant and the expansion and continuation of the use aligns with the Plan.    

Zoning 
 

1. The subject property is currently zoned B-4, Office, with a PUD overlay which was approved as a special 
use (Ordinance No. 1594 approved on October 21, 1996).  The enclosure of the existing patio as well as 
constructing a new outdoor patio would require a Major change to the existing PUD.   

Site Plan  
 

1. The existing restaurant floorplan will not change with the proposed addition/enclosure.  The restaurant is 
2,675 square feet and seats 60 people.   
 

2. The existing 670 square foot patio area, on the rear of the building but facing Route 30, would be 
enclosed to allow year-round use.  The enclosed patio would be equipped with foldable glazing panels 
which could open during the summer months.  The patio, before and after the enclosure, seats 40 people.  

 
3. A new, 324 square foot outdoor patio would be constructed on the east side of the building 

addition/enclosure, which would seat additional 16 people.  The patio would only be accessible through 
the new enclosed patio area.  
 

4. Both the building addition/enclosure and the proposed outdoor patio would be ADA compliant.  
 

5. All changes to the site plan would occur on the 0.10-acre parcel, with no changes to the common areas of 
the PUD.  
 

Building Elevations and Floorplans 

1. The existing 670 square foot patio masonry knee walls would remain, with composite siding and windows 
added above and enclosed by a roof.  The proposed shingle roof over the existing patio would match the 
existing roof regarding pitch and materials.  The pediment facing Route 30 would be constructed of fiber 
cement panels.  
 

2. The outdoor lights along the perimeter of the existing patio would be removed and repurposed elsewhere 
on site.  They may be used for the proposed outdoor patio.   
 

3. The proposed 324 square foot outdoor patio deck would be constructed of composite wood.  The railing 
around the patio would measure 3’ 2 ¾” tall, complying with the Zoning Ordinance requirement of 3’ 
minimum.  The color would be Coastal Bluff by Trex (brown).   
 

 



3 
 

Parking & Loading 
 

1. The Zoning Ordinance requires 1 parking space for every 100 square feet of gross floor area, plus one 
space for each employee during the largest working shift, regardless of whether the area is inside the 
building or outdoor seating.  The area of the 1st floor of the restaurant is 2,675 square feet and the 
existing patio is 670 square feet, for a total of 3,345 square feet.  The largest working shift is 8 employees.  
As such, the restaurant currently requires 42 parking spaces per Code.  
 

2. The construction of the 324 square foot patio would add an additional 3 parking spaces per code, for a 
total of 45 parking spaces for the restaurant.   
 

3. Staff performed a parking analysis of Brookside Commons (attached to this report).  The PUD contains 125 
parking spaces, including 7 ADA accessible spaces.  Currently, all the existing uses within the PUD require 
approximately 248 parking spaces, resulting in a parking deficiency of 123 spaces.  The proposed building 
addition/enclosure with the proposed outdoor patio would add 3 more parking spaces, for a total of 251 
spaces required.  These figures do not account for the former Simply Smokin’ restaurant, which is closed.  
 

4. The former Simply Smokin’ restaurant remains closed at this time.  If reopened as a restaurant, it would 
require approximately 98 additional parking spaces.  The parking analysis table currently reflects 0 spaces 
required for this former restaurant because it is closed.  It is possible that this structure may be reopened 
for something other than restaurant, which would require less additional parking.  
 

5. Despite shared parking opportunities it is reasonable to assume that restaurant parking availability will be 
limited during the late afternoon and early evening hours on weekdays where restaurant and office hours 
overlap.  Office users peak parking demands are primarily on weekdays, between approximately 8 am – 5 
pm, whereas restaurants peak parking demands are primarily on weekends in the evening.  
 

6. Some existing tenants have noted that up to a dozen parking spaces are lost in the wintertime for snow 
storage.  
 

7. There are no designated loading areas within the Brookside Commons PUD.  Delivery trucks typically park 
in the drive aisle south of the restaurant.  Some existing tenants have indicated to staff that deliveries are 
common during normal business hours and that it negatively affects traffic circulation within the PUD.    
 

Stormwater & Drainage 
 

1. Robinson Engineering has performed a cursory review of the project.  Due to the small amount of 
impervious surface added to the site (324 SF), final engineering may be performed at the time of 
permitting.  
 

2. According to the National Wetlands Inventory maps, there are no wetlands or floodplains on the subject 
property.  

 

Landscaping  

1. The enclosure of the patio will not affect any existing landscaping.  The proposed 324 square foot new 
outdoor patio will result in the loss of a row of shrubs (see attached pictures).  The representative has 
stated that no trees or any other landscaping would be removed as part of the project.  
  



4 
 

2. The site is heavily landscaped between the building and Route 30, including around the existing detention 
pond on the north side of the building.   

 
Other 
 

1. Although the project will require a Final Plat of Resubdivision to combine the underlying lots, a draft plat 
has not been provided at this time.  The plat will be required prior to a public hearing.  
 

2. The proposed plans were forwarded to the Utility and Building departments and the Frankfort Fire 
District.  These departments have not indicated any concerns with the proposed plans.  
 

3. The existing bathroom facilities are able to accommodate the proposed building addition/enclosure as 
well as the new outdoor patio.   

 

Standards for Planned Unit Developments  
 
For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section F of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance refers to 
Planned Unit Developments (refer to complete Article 3 attached). Part 4 of said Section F refers to the review 
standards the must be considered. 
 
In granting or withholding approval of Preliminary Plans and Final Plans, the Plan Commission and the Village 
Board shall consider the extent to which the application fulfills the requirements of this Ordinance and the 
following standards:  
 

a. The plan is designed to protect the public health, welfare, and safety.  
 

b. The proposed development does not cause substantial injury to the value of other property in the 
immediate area.  
 

c. The plan provides for protection of the aesthetic and function of the natural environment, which shall 
include, but not be limited to, flood plains, streams, creeks, lakes, ponds, wetlands, soil and geologic 
characteristics, air quality, vegetation, woodlands, and steep slopes.  
 

d. The plan provides for and ensures the preservation of adequate recreational amenities and common open 
spaces.  
 

e. Residential use areas may provide a variety of housing types to achieve a balanced neighborhood.  
 

f. The planned unit development provides land area to accommodate cultural, educational, recreational, 
and other public and quasi-public activities to serve the needs of the residents thereof.  
 

g. The proposed development provide for the orderly and creative arrangement of all land uses with respect 
to each other and to the entire Village.  

 
Special Use Request (PUD) 
 
The following findings of fact are used to judge the merit of a special use permit request.   
 
Findings of Fact: 
 

1. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 



5 
 

2. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.   

3. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 
vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.   

4. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  

5. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.   

6. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.   

7. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.   

8. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, 
pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.   

 
 



RECEIVED 6.2.22



LINCOLN LN

W LINCOLN HWY

JO
HN

SO
N 

AV
E

S E
LS

NE
R 

RD
CE

DA
R 

LN

WA
SH

IN
GT

ON
 P

KW
Y

MEADOW AVE

HA
CK

BE
RR

Y R
D

HA
MI

LT
ON

 AV
E

MU
LB

ER
RY

 R
D

VERMONT RD W

BROOKRIDGEC T

COTTONWO O D
RD

BROOKRIDGE CREEK DR

BROOKRIDGE DR

HAWTHORNE RD

BI
RC

HW
OO

D 
RD

VERMONT RD N

LIN
DE

N 
RD

0 400 800200
Feet

µ
10235 W. Lincoln Highway - Opa addition (Brookside Commons PUD)



W LINCOLN HWYHA
CK

BE
RR

Y R
D

0 150 30075
Feet

µ
10235 W. Lincoln Highway - Opa addition (Brookside Commons PUD)



0 50 10025
Feet

µ
10235 W. Lincoln Highway - Opa addition (Brookside Commons PUD)



LINCOLN LN

W LINCOLN HWY

JO
HN

SO
N 

AV
E

S E
LS

NE
R 

RD
CE

DA
R 

LN

WA
SH

IN
GT

ON
 P

KW
Y

HA
CK

BE
RR

Y R
D

HA
MI

LT
ON

 AV
E

MU
LB

ER
RY

 R
D

VERMONT RD W

BROOKRI DGE
CT

COTTONWO O D
RD

MEADOW AVE

BROOKRIDGE CREEK DR

BROOKRIDGE DR

HAWTHORNE RD

VERMONT RD N 0 500 1,000250
Feet

µ
10235 W. Lincoln Highway - Opa addition (Brookside Commons PUD)

Text

Brookside Office CondosBrookside Commons West

Brookside Commons

Text

XW



-008
-007-006-005-004-003-002-001-014-013-012

-011

-010

-005
-009

-010

-033

-034

-035

Pt. -003

Pt. -001

-0
08

-0
07

-0
06

-0
04

-0
03

-013

-009

-002

-041-040-039-038-037-036-035
-034

-033

-032

-031
-030

-029

-028-027-026
-025

-024-023-022
-021

-020

-019

-018

-017

-016

-015-014-013
-012

-011

-010

-009
-008-007

-006
-005

-004

-003

-002

-001

-007

-006

-005

-004

-003

-002

-001

-014
-013

-012

-011

-010

-009

-008-007-006-005-004-003
-002

-001

-009

-008

-007

-006

-005

-004

-003

-002

-001

-017

-016

-015

-014

-013

-012

-011

-010

-009

-008

-007

-006

-005

-004

-003

-002

-001

-015

-014

-010

-001

-018

-017

-016

-015

-014

-013

-012

-011

-010

-1001
-1002
-1003

-021

-0
22

-0
23

-0
24

-0
25

-0
26

-0
27

-0
28

-0
29

-0
30 -0
31

-0
32

-0
33

-0
34

-0
35

-039
-040

-041

-013

-042 -043
-044

-046

-047

-048
-049

-050

-051

-076
-053 -0

58

-0
59

-0
60

-064

-065
-066

-006

-008

-009

36.32 37.35

-0
70

-067-068

-0
69 -0

72

-0
71

-074
-073

-075

6.70

2.965

10.00

1.402

0.618

Pt. 11.561

Pt. 2.09

4.32

1.69

VERMONT RD

VE
RM

ON
T 

RD

MU
LB

ER
RY

 R
D

JO
HN

SO
N 

AV
E

JOHNSON AVE

LINCOLN (US RTE 30) HWY

EL
SN

ER
 R

D

BROOKRIDGE 
CREEK DR 

CE
ME

TE
RY

  (
BI

KE
 P

AT
H)

 R
D 

BROOKSIDE LN

-1
00

1
-1

00
2

-1
00

3
-1

00
4

-1
00

1

-1
00

2

-1
00

3

-1
00

4

-1
00

1

-1
00

2

-1
00

3

-1
00

4

-1
00

1

-1
00

2

-1
00

3

-1
00

4

-1
00

1

-1
00

2

-1
00

3

-1
00

4

OLD PLANK (Formerly N.Y.C. RR.) OLD PLANK (Formerly N.Y.C. RR.)

21

-077

-1001
-1002

-1001
-1002
-1003
-1004

Units
1
2
3

-016

Units

Units
6
7
8
9

4
5

FR
ANKLIN AVE

-045
1.211

65
7

65
5

65
1

65
3

64
7

63
7

63
1

63
5

63
3

64
1

64
5

64
3

62
7

62
1

62
5

62
3

61
7

61
1

61
5

61
3

S002911

S002899 S002900 S002901 S002902 S002903

S002898

S002908

S002909
S006856

S007202

S002910

124 117

302

301

300

304

117

100

300

303

303

304

306305

304

4

21

22

23

24

25 26 27 56789101112

14

30

31

110

111

112

113

114

115

116

117

1
2

3

4

5
6

7 8 9 10 11 12

13

141516
17

181920
21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31
32

33 34
35

36

37
38

39 40 41

42

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

5051

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

66

67

M1
M2

M3

M4

M5

M6

M7

M8
M9 M10 M11 M12 M13 M14

M15
M16M17

M18

M19

M20

M21

55

56

29

1
2

3

456

7891011121314151617181920

21
22
23 24

Com. Area 1

Com. Area 2

25
1

2
3

4
LOT 5

6
7
8

9

10
11

12131415161718

19

20

21

22

23

Com. Area

1

2

Outlot A

75

14
0

80 75 75 75 75 75 75

7580 75 75 75 75 75 75

14
0140

166.14 19
.62

100

14
0

13
9.

96

14
2.

83

96.50

12
7.

02

16
1.84

10
0.

12

140 69.85 191 100

59.79

96
.5

0
10

0

100

80

50

36.85

2595
.5

0

10050

50

683.69

14
5

14
5

14
5

14
5

14
5

12
2.

87144.30
125.51

145

145

146.10

70.04

151.88

64
.0

5
90

170

174.56

170.30

170

170.32

170.30

170

170.30

15
5.

16

10
5.

92

142.13145

142.12

177.70

177.70

177.70

177.70

177.70

177.70

177.70

18.11

71.81

53
7

27
5

14
6.

28

46
.66

55.11 34.97

94.66 94.90 23.58

85.04

74.78

88
.5

4

79
.9

4

113.64

70

31
.6

5

100.31
100.5

140

155.73

89
.0

8
78

.0
7

70
10

8.
28

12
6.

75

14
5

93.88

35.62

89.77

75.29

909030.82

177.70

177.70

86
.8

9

11
4.

10

170

170.30

170

170

170.30

170

170

90
90

90
90

90
90

10
0

86.45

134.10

90
90

90
90

85
.5

1

123.12

92
.6

6
92

.6
6

92
.6

6
92

.6
6

92
.6

6
92

.6
6

92
.6

7
10

0

90
90

90
90

90
90

90
10

0

7070707045.14

115.14

132.32
145

80

70
38

.3
4

51
.2

0

145

86.17

80

11
7.

40

10
0

170

52
.6

8

13
.7

2

49.16

66.59

74
.01

90
.1

173.20

157.77

38.84

59.18

26.19

54.61

76.43

5.
93

78.71 123.48 71.5 70 70 70 70 180

11
4

78
.8

1

80
10

5
84

.1
6

53.92

132.57

5.8
5

15
0

30
9

13
0

112105105105105

50

113.38

118.14

116.04

128.43

90

49.42

90.5790.57
114.60

90.1490.1490.1490.14

6045.6150607049.02
35.62

90 90 90 90 90 59.72

90

52.25
106 105 105 105 57.99

90

33

30.69
33.37

46.26

72.62

250.93

208.44

187.33

183.19

190

190

197.17

214.40

19
6.

77

19
1.

69

18
6.

62

213.17

17
6.

67
22

6.
93

18
1.

54

17
1.

39

14
2.

96

21
2.8

0

21
9.

89

21
4.

77

21
3.

11

74.17
63.67

90

125.42

125.53

196.10

10
3.

1313
0

13
0

13
0

13
0

150

150

150

150

150

15
6

69.14

75.66

6063.21

85.29

85.29
85.29

83.38
73.19

76.63

60.79

90
67

59.31

117.79

101.91

59.74

39.10

2.92

23
.0

6

53
.2

6
29

7.
64

22
5

66

66

90.14126.28

307.69

32
9.

39

32
0.

04

28
8.

19

25
5.

25
64

.0
5

260.68

90.14
90.14 103.4590.14

218.83

728.10

56
1

728.10

56
1

33

144.50120.34120.33120.3331.08

15
1.

70
26

3.
43

144.50

15
0

17
7.9

2

11
3.

43

120.34120.33120.33 144.50

15
0

15
0

15
0

66

66

66

504.16

40
0

650

10
0

13
7.

33
15

0

150

143

150

150

100

90
24

2.
46

14
9.

84
93

30
9.

87
12

9.
8

28.6

10
5.

25

66

66

15
.1

0223.47

50
10

0

50

50.46

139.05

100

50

58

53.07

72.31

121.3

19.09

181.45

18
6.

14

132.68

183.33

18
5

19
5

13
5.

28
18

4.
83

66

137.44

50

96
.5

3
90

11
09

.4
2

2.
01

7.
01

45.87

50

92
.6

6
92

.6
6

92
.6

6
10

0
92

.6
6

92
.6

6
92

.6
6

92
.6

7
10

0

110.8979.19

248.15

20

20

65

64.87

15
0.

05

65

16
0.

13

16
0.

13

65

656565656565

50
.5

0

264.83

12.
.24

32
7.

92

315.21

50

22
1.

41
146.29

202.04

30
5.

06

29
1.

15

19
1.

27

22
.8

6

51.41200

228.98
122.59

22
1.

50

120.90
634.19

151.57

65

65

11
.08

10
.25

513.29

36
1.

90

1.92

2.06

65

51

21
.3

5

16.99

26
.1

7

26.1721.33
26.17

21.33
21.33

26.17 26.1726.17
21.33

21.33
26.1737.0437.0426.17

21.33
21.33

26.17

26
.1

7

337

6.1
3

6

65

15
.8

7

26
.1

7
26

.1
7

26
.1

7
26

.1
7

26.17 26.17
26.17 21.33 26.17

11.
.08

21
.3

3

65

65

26
.1

7
26

.1
7

26
.1

7
26

.1
7

21
.3

3

65.0

65
.0

65
.0

65.0

21
.3

3

2.
82

16
2.

59

143

16
3.

25
13

6.
96

143

15
0

143

91
.45

53.72

10.
.25

S002898
Brookside Commons PUD
R97-104659
S002899
Brookside Country Villas
Condos
R85-028174
S002900
Brookside Country Villas
Condos 1st Amdt.
R85-033872
S002901
Brookside Country Villas
Condos 2nd Amdt.
R86-049419
S002902
Brookside Country Villas
Condos 3rd Amdt.
R86-057416
S002903
Brookside Country Villas
Condos 4th Amdt.
R87-011583
S002911
Brookside Sub
R77-016794
S006856
Brookside Commons West
Lot 1 PUD
R2001-037511
S007202
Brookside Commons West
Lots 2 thru 23, 2nd PUD
R2002-127624

Tax Assessment Map
Revised for the 2020 Assessment

Copyrighted 2020 by Will County GIS Division

Denise Winfrey
County Executive
Rhonda R. Novak

Supervisor of Assessments

Map Page Will County, Illinois

Subdivision List

Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data
Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic Information System has been produced and
processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made regarding accuracy, adequacy,
completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and aggregate uses of
the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, express
or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be
periodically made to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication.
If you have obtained information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that
electronic data can be altered subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended
that careful attention be paid to the contents of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with
any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any questions to Mapping & Platting at (815) 740-4664.

09-21C-W
Frankfort Township
W.1/2 S.W.1/4 Sec.21 T.35N. R.12E.

1 inch = 200 feet
Plot Date: Jul 13 2020

09-21A-W 09-21A-E

09
-2

0B
-E

09
-2

0D
-E

09-21C
-E

09-29B-E 09-28A-W

09-28A-E



Brookside Commons

Tenant Roster 6.29.22

Address Name Use Classification (Parking)

GFA 

(approx) Employees

Exam 

Rooms

Parking 

required

10171

Frankfort Implant 

Detistry

Health Clinic: 3 spaces per exam 

room plus 1 space for each 

employee 1,466 6 4 18

10175 Brookside Dental

Health Clinic: 3 spaces per exam 

room plus 1 space for each 

employee 1,466 18

10179 Planet Color

Personal Service (Salon): 1 space 

per 200 SF GFA, plus 1 space for 

each employee 1,466 6 14

10181

Pain Management 

Institute

Professional office: 1 space per 

200 SF GFA 2,200 11

10189 Midwest Anti‐aging

Professional office: 1 space per 

200 SF GFA 2,200 11

10197

CEI Marketing 

Communications

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,400 7

10201

Association 

Professional 

Counseling

Professional office: 1 space per 

200 SF GFA 1,400 7

10205

Logiscial Claims 

Solutions

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,400 7

10209

ZPS Psychiatric 

Services

Professional office: 1 space per 

200 SF GFA 1,400 7

10217 Platt Counseling

Professional office: 1 space per 

200 SF GFA 1,400 7

10221

Area Marketing & 

Promotions

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,400 7

10225 Family Medicine

Health Clinic: 3 spaces per exam 

room plus 1 space for each 

employee 1,400 4 3 15

10229 Chiropractic

Health Clinic: 3 spaces per exam 

room plus 1 space for each 

employee 1,400 2 4 14

10237 Ameriprise Financial

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 2,250 12

10241

Partners in Oral 

Surgery

Health Clinic: 3 spaces per exam 

room plus 1 space for each 

employee 2,250 7 4 19

10257

Atlas Wealth 

Management

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,450 8

10261 Ameriprise Financial

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,450 8

10265

Synchronicity Event 

Marketing

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,450 8

10269

Lott Management, 

LLC

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,450 8

10235 OPA!

Full‐Service restaurant: 1 space 

per 100 SF GFA plus 1 for each 

employee 3,345 8 42

10211

Former Simply 

Smokin' (closed)

Full‐Service restaurant: 1 space 

per 100 SF GFA plus 1 for each 

employee 5,000 0

Total 248

Available parking: 125 spaces, including 7 ADA spaces

EXISTING PARKING



Brookside Commons

Tenant Roster 6.29.22

Address Name Use Classification (Parking)

GFA 

(approx) Employees

Exam 

Rooms

Parking 

required

10171

Frankfort Implant 

Detistry

Health Clinic: 3 spaces per exam 

room plus 1 space for each 

employee 1,466 6 4 18

10175 Brookside Dental

Health Clinic: 3 spaces per exam 

room plus 1 space for each 

employee 1,466 18

10179 Planet Color

Personal Service (Salon): 1 space 

per 200 SF GFA, plus 1 space for 

each employee 1,466 6 14

10181

Pain Management 

Institute

Professional office: 1 space per 

200 SF GFA 2,200 11

10189 Midwest Anti‐aging

Professional office: 1 space per 

200 SF GFA 2,200 11

10197

CEI Marketing 

Communications

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,400 7

10201

Association 

Professional 

Counseling

Professional office: 1 space per 

200 SF GFA 1,400 7

10205

Logiscial Claims 

Solutions

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,400 7

10209

ZPS Psychiatric 

Services

Professional office: 1 space per 

200 SF GFA 1,400 7

10217 Platt Counseling

Professional office: 1 space per 

200 SF GFA 1,400 7

10221

Area Marketing & 

Promotions

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,400 7

10225 Family Medicine

Health Clinic: 3 spaces per exam 

room plus 1 space for each 

employee 1,400 4 3 15

10229 Chiropractic

Health Clinic: 3 spaces per exam 

room plus 1 space for each 

employee 1,400 2 4 14

10237 Ameriprise Financial

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 2,250 12

10241

Partners in Oral 

Surgery

Health Clinic: 3 spaces per exam 

room plus 1 space for each 

employee 2,250 7 4 19

10257

Atlas Wealth 

Management

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,450 8

10261 Ameriprise Financial

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,450 8

10265

Synchronicity Event 

Marketing

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,450 8

10269

Lott Management, 

LLC

Business office: 1 space per 200 SF 

GFA 1,450 8

10235 OPA!

Full‐Service restaurant: 1 space 

per 100 SF GFA plus 1 for each 

employee 3,669 8 45

10211

Former Simply 

Smokin' (closed)

Full‐Service restaurant: 1 space 

per 100 SF GFA plus 1 for each 

employee 5,000 0

Total 251

Available parking: 125 spaces, including 7 ADA spaces

PROPOSED PARKING















Brookside Comons West

Brookside Commons

10241: Partners in Oral Surgery 
7 employees
4 exam rooms

10237: Ameriprise Financial

10257: Atlas Wealth Management

10261: Ameriprise Financial

10265: Synchronicity Event Marketing

10269: Lott Management LLC

10229: Chiropractic
2 employees
4 exam rooms

10225 Family Medicine
4 employees
3 exam rooms

10221: Area Marketing & Promotions

10217: Platt Counseling 

10209: ZPS Psychiatric Svcs.

10205: Logistical Claims Solutions

10201: Association Professional Couseling

10197: CEI Marketing Communications

10189: Midwest Anti-Aging

10181: Pain Management Institute

Fmr. Simply Smokin'
(closed)OPA!

10179: Planet Color salon
6 employees

10175: Brookside Dental
(closed Wednesdays?) 

10171: Frankfort Implant Dentistry
6 employees
4 exam rooms

cgruba
Received

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line



RECEIVED 6.2.22



cgruba
Received



RECEIVED 3.16.22



RECEIVED 6.2.22



RECEIVED 3.16.22



RECEIVED 6.2.22


	July 14, 2022
	PC Minutes 6.23.22 DRAFT
	324 Center Rd Binder1
	Staff Report for PC-ZBA WORKSHOP 7-14-22 + Attachments REDUCED FILE SIZE
	Profile-and-Prospectus-The-Bridge.pdf
	Deck1CoverPage
	Deck2aBTCBackground
	Deck2BTCTimeline
	Deck3BTSProfile
	Deck4Thriftastic
	Deck5Stats
	Deck5bFeedback
	Deck6Vision
	Deck7Impact
	Deck8Contact


	Binder1-Opa
	Staff Report WORKSHOP 7.14.22 (Opa)
	1. Survey Opa
	2.0. GIS zoom out
	2.1. GIS zoom in
	2.1. GIS close up
	3. GIS Brookside Commons PUDs
	4. Tax Map
	5.0. Brookside Commons Tenant Roster & Parking Analysis (EXISTING)
	5.1. Brookside Commons Tenant Roster & Parking Analysis (PROPOSED)
	6. pictures
	7. Site Plan 5.11.22 (Brookside Commons & Brookside Commons West) w parking calcs
	8. Site Geometrics Plan of PUD 6.2.22
	9.0 Site Plan 4.11.22 (1 in to 20 ft)
	9.1 Site Plan 3.16.22 (1 in to 10 ft)
	9.2 Site Plan 6.2.22 (1 in to 4 ft)
	10. Elevation - north & west 3.16.22
	11. Elevation - East 6.2.22




